FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/16/2019 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97433-1

Court of Appeal No. 78121-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In the Matter of the Estate of:

SASSAN SANAI, MD

Deceased.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Cyrus Sanai, Petitioner 433 North Camden Drive #600 Beverly Hills, CA 90210 Telephone (310) 717-9840 Email: cyrus@sanaislaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Cyrus Sanai asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision of the Court of Appeal for which review is sought is the decision of April 29, 2019 in Docket No. 78121-9-I, *In the Matter of the Estate of Sassan Sanai, M.D.* A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-9. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration on July 13, 2019 is in the Appendix at page A-10. Relevant statutes and constitutional provisions are attached as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES

A. Issue #1

Under Washington State's will contest statutes, RCW 11.24.010, RCW 11.28.237, and RCW 11.36.010(6) (the "Will Contest Statutes"), must service of an appointed agent be hand-to-hand delivery as held by the Court of Appeal, or is personal service subject to evaluation under the substantial compliance rule announced by this Court in *Martin v*. *Triol*, 121 Wn.2d 135, 143, 847 P. 2d 471 (1993), *Wichert v. Cardwell*, 117 Wn.2d 148, 812 P.2d 858 (1991) and Court of Appeals decisions such as *Thayer v. Edmonds*, 8 Wn. App. 36, 39, 503 P.2d 1110 (1972)?

B. ISSUE #2

Was the Court of Appeal correct in interpreting the Will Contest Statues to lack any requirement for a personal representative to (a) provide notice of the identity of any agent for service of process, (b) provide notice of the address for service of the agent for service of process, (c) provide notice of the address for agent of service of process of the personal representative, or (d) if a non-resident, to maintain any agent for service of process?

C. ISSUE #3

As interpreted by the Court of Appeal, do the Will Contest Statutes violate the Fourteenth Amendment right to due process as articulated in *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950), *Mennonite Board of Missions v. Adams*, 462 U.S. 791, 103 S.Ct. 2706, 77 L.Ed.2d 180 (1983), and *Tulsa Professional Collection Services, Inc. v. Pope*, 485 U.S. 478, 108 S.Ct. 1340, 99 L.Ed.2d 565 (1988) because a personal representative:

- does not have to maintain or disclose a valid address for personal service of process to the Court or interested parties;
- 2. who is a non-resident does not have to notify interested parties of the identity of any agent for service of process under RCW 11.36.010(6);
- 3. who is a non-resident does not have to disclose a valid address of any agent for service of process under RCW 11.36.010(6) to the Court or to interested parties;
- 4. who is a non-resident does not have to maintain an agent for service of process within the State of Washington or provide notice of the discharge of such agent, resignation of such agent, or a change of address of such agent;
- 5. does not have to provide notice of the relevant deadlines?

IV. STATEMENT OF PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This is a will contest proceeding. Astrid Sanai, a daughter of decedent Sassan Sanai, filed a purported will that named her as the Personal Representative. CP 121-39. Because Astrid is a non-resident, in order to be a personal representative, she had to comply with RCW 11.36.010(6) which states in full as follows:

6) A nonresident may be appointed to act as personal representative if the nonresident appoints an agent who is a resident of the county where such estate is being probated or who is an attorney of record of the estate, upon whom service of all papers may be made; such appointment to be made in writing and filed by the clerk with other papers of such estate; and, unless bond has been waived as provided by RCW

11.28.185, such nonresident personal representative must file a bond to be approved by the court.

RCW 11.36.010(6).

An authorization for Sarah McCarthy, in her capacity as attorney for the estate, to act as agent for service of process was filed with the Superior Court but never served on the interested parties. CP 123-5; CP 126; CP 52-56.

The Personal Representative, Astrid Sanai, served a notice to Petitioner, a son of the decedent, that was file stamped via her attorneys, the Anderson Hunter Law Firm. A picture of the notice is attached as Exhibit 1 to the Declaration of Cyrus Sanai filed on January 3, 2018. CP 56. This notice identified the "Anderson Hunter Law Firm" as the "Attorneys for Personal Representative." Based on this notice, which provided the Anderson Hunter law firm as the only address for service of documents, the Personal Representative was served a copy of the summons and petition by two means and two capacities. First, Astrid and her attorneys were served notice by mail in her capacity as an heir as required under RCW 11.24.020 in her capacity as "all persons interested in the matter, as defined in RCW 11.96A.030(5)." RCW 11.24.020 states that "notice shall be given as provided in RCW 11.96A.100." Such notice was given and is undisputed. She was served by mail of "all papers" on August 30, 2017. Service of notice by mail was admitted by McCarthy; the envelope in question shows a postmark the day after deposit in the mail. See McCarthy Decl. ¶4; CP 83-100.

On November 21, 2017 at 1:10 p.m. a copy of the petition and summons on the agent of the Personal Representative was delivered to 2707 Colby Avenue #1001, Everett, WA 98201. The person delivering the document asked for Sarah McCarthy, and the person accepting the delivery stated that she would take the document for McCarthy. CP 50-51 ¶¶1-2.

Based on the notice furnished by the Personal Representative, the law firm of Anderson Hunter was served with a timely filed will contest petition by personal service on the receptionist, who accepted the package.

According to the Personal Representative, the package was then left in McCarthy's in-box, and McCarthy physically received the petition package on the 90th day after filing of the petition. CP 83-100.

The Personal Representative filed a motion to dismiss, alleging that no service under RCW 4.28.080 was validly made within the deadline. CP 101-104. In the opposition Petitioner argued as follows:

In the only notice provided to Petitioner, the appointed attorney for the Personal Representative was explicitly identified as "ANDERSON HUNTER LAW FIRM....Attorneys for Personal Representative." No notice of any kind of any other agent for service was provided. Accordingly, the notice provide by Ms. McCarthy identified the agent for service of process of the personal representative as the Anderson Hunter Law Firm, not her specifically. See Exh. 1 to declaration of Cyrus Sanai. Opposition at CP 60.

In addition to arguing that the agent actually notified to Petitioner was validly served, he also argued that Sarah McCarthy was personally served because she admitted actual physical receipt of the document via Anderson Hunter staff, citing *Scanlan v. Townsend*, 181 Wn.2d 838, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014).

The trial court granted the motion to dismiss on January 17, 2018. CP 28-32. Its holding was that "Petitioner has not effected valid service pursuant to RCW 4.28.08." *Id.* The trial court's order characterized Petitioner's theory that the failure to notify Petitioner of the actual name of the sole individual agent estopped any complaint as to failure to serve Sarah McCarthy the individual as "recently formed." It also addressed the argument on the merits, finding that it was the responsibility of Petitioner to investigate the court file to determine the identity of the agent for service of process.

The Superior Court did not address the holding of *Scanlan, supra*. Instead, it held, without citation, that "box service" (whatever that is) does not constitute personal service pursuant to RCW 4.28.080. CP 28-32.

Petitioner filed a motion for a new trial or reconsideration. In addition to explaining to the trial court its error, it pointed out that McCarthy would be handed the

petition by a process server, and that such service would be within 90 days of notice that McCarthy the individual was designated as the agent for service of process. CP 16-27. The trial court denied the motion on February 2, 2018. CP 12. Additional attempt to serve McCarthy personally were not successful until February 15, 2018. CP 11.

A timely notice of appeal was filed. After the personal representative's attorneys filed an opposition brief, they resigned due to Astrid's failure to pay and provided an address for mail service to her.

The Court of Appeals, addressing several issues of first impression, interpreted the Will Contest Statutes as follows:

First, the Court of Appeal rejected the argument that in providing notice, a personal representative must provide an address for service of process for herself, or that notice of the identity and address of the agent for service of process must be provided as a matter of due process:

Cyrus contends that the personal representative cannot challenge the sufficiency of service because she failed to serve him with notice of McCarthy's appointment as her agent. And because of the alleged inadequate notice of the agent's identity, he also claims that the time for filing the will contest petition was tolled until December 7, 2017, the date Astrid filed the motion to dismiss. We reject both arguments. The statute requires the personal representative to file the document appointing an agent. Astrid filed the document appointing McCarthy, and the document included McCarthy's business address to facilitate service. Appendix at A-7 (bold emphasis added).

Second, the Court of Appeal held that "RCW 11.24.010 requires personal service, whether or not the personal representative appoints a resident agent under RCW 11.36.010(6)." Appendix at A-6. It further held, without citation to any authority, that personal service does not mean actual receipt, but instead requires "hand-to-hand" service. Appendix at A-8.

Third, the Court rejected Petitioner's assertion of *Thayer v. Edmonds*, 8 Wn. App. 36, 39, 503 P.2d 1110 (1972), that as to personal service, substantial compliance is sufficient. Appendix at A-4.

Fourth, the Court rejected Petitioner's argument that notice was not sufficient under the principles articulated by this Court in *Hesthagen v. Harby*, 78 Wn.2d 934, 941, 481 P.2d 438 (1971):

Cyrus contends that the personal representative cannot challenge the sufficiency of service because she failed to serve him with notice of McCarthy's appointment as her agent. And because of the alleged inadequate notice of the agent's identity, he also claims that the time for filing the will contest petition was tolled until December 7, 2017, the date Astrid filed the motion to dismiss. We reject both arguments. The statute requires the personal representative to file the document appointing an agent. Astrid filed the document appointing McCarthy, and the document included McCarthy's business address to facilitate service.

<u>Hesthagen v. Harby</u> and RCW 11.28.237 do not advance Cyrus's claim of inadequate notice. These authorities establish that a personal representative must provide notice of probate to the deceased's heirs. **Notice by mail satisfies RCW 11.28.237(1), and the record shows that the personal representative complied with the statute.** The notice of probate was not somehow misleading because McCarthy signed it on behalf of the law firm.

Appendix at A-7 (bold emphasis added).fhe

Petitioner filed a timely motion for reconsideration, pointing out that the interpretation of "strict compliance" conflicted with published appellate law:

As this Court's detailed analysis shows, there is a gap in the statutory language concerning how agents for personal representatives must be served. This Court concludes that there is "no logical reason why the jurisdictional requirements for will contest proceedings would differ depending on the identity and residency status of the personal representative," and so concluded the personal service requirement of RCW 11.36.010 must be met. It further concludes that actual delivery to the person to be served does not qualify, but that the service must be "hand-to-hand", though there is nothing in Washington's case law that so states.

The Court also rejected the Washington State authority that "personal service statutes require substantial compliance." *Thayer v. Edmonds*, 8 Wn. App. 36, 39, 503 P.2d 1110 (1972). The Washington State Supreme Court uniformly states in its rulings that "[o]ne interpretive distinction this court makes in construing service of process statutes and rules is between strict compliance and substantial compliance...personal service statutes require only substantial compliance." *Martin v. Triol*, 121 Wn.2d 135, 143, 847 P. 2d 471 (1993).

Motion for Reconsideration at 1-2.

Petitioner also elaborated his argument that the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute violated due process, particularly in light of a new fact:

The Court's expressed view is that "written notice of his or her appointment and the pendency of said probate proceedings" does not include notice of the identity of the agent or the address for service of the personal representative. This violates fundamental due process, namely the right to notice, as articulated in....*Hesthagen, supra,* at 940-1(bold emphasis added).

The notice which this Court found acceptable was NOT "notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to....afford them an opportunity to present their objections", because the notice was not "of such nature as reasonably to convey the required information" of the address for service of process on Astrid or the exact name of the agent and address for service of process on the agent. Accordingly, under the standard for notice identified and quoted in *Hesthagen*, Astrid failed to provide adequate notice, so the running of the four-month period was tolled until she did, which was December 7, 2017. The agent was then served within four months of December 7, 2017.

According to the Court, a personal representative could refuse to disclose his or her service address in his filings and provide a post-office box for the Court to contact him or her. Likewise, according to this Court, a non-resident personal representative could keep his or her address a secret, appoint a resident agent for service of process with a filing that is not served on anyone, and then after the testamentary authority is granted by a superior court, remove the agent for service of process. The latter is EXACTLY what Astrid did. See Exhibit hereto. McCarthy, the agent for service of process, substituted out as attorney, but no new agent for service of process who was either a "resident of the county" or "attorney for the estate" was substituted. Under this Court's view of the law, "written notice of his or her appointment and the pendency of said probate proceedings" excludes both notice and maintenance of a valid address for service of process. This standard of notice is unconstitutional under Hesthagen, supra, and the United States Supreme Court decision upon which *Hesthagen* is founded, Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 94 L.Ed. 865, 70 S.Ct. 652 (1950).

.

Because the **provision** of notice is a jurisdictional prerequisite, it makes no difference whether any recipient otherwise had or obtained actual notice of the existence of the proceedings. In addition, the address for personal service of Astrid, if Appellant had elected to serve her in New York, was completely absent from the record. The agent for service of the personal representative could be, and was, changed without any replacement being named, again without notice. Exh. A hereto.

Motion for Reconsideration at 18-20 (bold emphasis added).

The Court of Appeal denied the motion for reconsideration on June 13, 2019.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED A. SUMMARY

The Court of Appeals ruled that contrary to the published case law concerning personal service in other contexts, *see*, *e.g. Thayer*, *supra*, which provides that only substantial compliance is required, personal service under the Will Contest Statutes must be hand-to-hand service. This is a straightforward conflict in the law, heightened by the fact that this Court has also held that personal services is always evaluated on a substantial compliance basis. *See*, *e.g.*, *Martin v. Triol*, 121 Wn.2d 135, 143, 847 P. 2d 471 (1993). Review of this issue therefore merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2); the decision in question is in conflict with the published case law of the this Court and the Courts of Appeal.

The Court of Appeal interpreted the Will Contest Statutes to have the following characteristics:

First, a personal representative, whether resident or non-resident. does not have to maintain or disclose a valid address for personal service of process to the Court or interested parties;

Second, a personal representative who is a non-resident of Washington does not have to (a) notify interested parties of the identity of any agent for service of process under RCW 11.36.010(6); (b) disclose a valid address of any agent for service of process under RCW 11.36.010(6) to the Court or to interested parties; or (c) maintain an agent for service of process within the State of Washington or provide notice of the resignation or discharge of such agent or a change of address of such agent, and does not have to substitute a new agent for service of service.

If the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the Will Constest Statutes are correct, then the Will Contest Statutes violate the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee against

deprivation of property without due process, namely the right to notice and the right to be heard, and the First Amendment right to petition as incorporated. . . The Will Contest Statutes also violate the similar Washington State constitutional provisions: see WA Const. art. I, §3; WA Const. art. I, §4. They are unconstitutional as applied to Petitioner, but also facially, because failing to provide an address at which personal service can be assured to be made upon personal representative and any appointed agent for service of process violates the due process rights of notice and an opportunity to be heard, and the right to petition. The reason is simple. A personal representative in Washington can hire an attorney then simply hide for the four month after which a will challenge is filed, making a will challenge completely impossible. Likewise, a nonresident personal representative can appoint an agent for service of process, then when the personal representative is approved, the agent can resign the next day, making personal service within Washington State impossible. As drafted, and as interpreted by the Court of Appeal, a personal representative can comply with the law while making a will challenge impossible, violating the Fourteenth Amendment rights to notice and be heard, and the First Amendment right to actually get a valid petition heard by the Superior Court.

Because the Will Context Statutes (a) require personal service, but (b) do not require notice of an address at which personal service can be made or other necessary information, they violate the United States and Washington State Constitutions, both facially and as applied to Petitioner. Review is therefore merited under RAP 13.4(b)(3) as a significant questions of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or of the United States are involved.

B. THE WILL STATUTES AS INTERPRETED BY THE COURT OF APPEAL

The personal representative is by her admission in her petition a non-resident. Accordingly, in order to be a personal representative, she had to comply with RCW 11.36.010(6) which states in full as follows:

6) A nonresident may be appointed to act as personal representative if the nonresident appoints an agent who is a resident of the county where such estate is being probated or who is an attorney of record of the estate, upon whom service of all papers may be made; such appointment to be made in writing and filed by the clerk with other papers of such estate; and, unless bond has been waived as provided by RCW 11.28.185, such nonresident personal representative must file a bond to be approved by the court.

RCW 11.36.010(6).

The plain language of the statute provide that the agent must be approved for "service of all papers". There is no reference to authorization or limitation to "personal service" in RCW 11.36.010(6), let alone any explanation of what constitutes personal service upon an agent. Even if personal service were implied, "personal service statutes require substantial compliance." *Thayer, supra* at 39.

The Personal Representative was required to service notice of her appointment as personal representative within 20 days of appointment:

Within twenty days after appointment, the personal representative of the estate of a decedent shall cause written notice of his or her appointment and the pendency of said probate proceedings, to be served personally or by mail to each heir, legatee and devisee of the estate and each beneficiary or transferee of a nonprobate asset of the decedent whose names and addresses are known to him or her, and proof of such mailing or service shall be made by affidavit and filed in the cause. If a trust is a legatee or devisee of the estate or a beneficiary or transferee of a nonprobate asset of the decedent, then notice to the trustee is sufficient. RCW 11.28.237(1).

The Court of Appeal summarized the operation of the filing requirements of the Will Contest Statutes as follows:

One who wishes to contest a will must file a petition within 4 months of the date the court admits the will to probate. To toll the 4-month period, the person contesting the will must timely file the petition and must ""personally serve"" the personal representative within 90 days of the filing. If, following filing, service is not so made, the action is deemed to not have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations. In such a case, the probate of the will is "binding and final." Our court has held that RCW 11.24.010 is unambiguous and requires personal service of the summons and petition to start a will contest action.

The plain language of these statutes do not require a personal representative, whether resident or non-resident, to maintain or disclose a valid address for personal service of process to the Court or interested parties. All that is required is "written notice of his or her appointment and the pendency of said probate proceedings." If the personal representative utilizes an attorney (as she probably must) only the address of the attorney will be set forth in the pleadings.

The plain language of these statutes do not specify what information is required in the "written notice of his or her appointment and the pendency of said probate proceedings." There is thus no explicit requirement for a non-resident to (a) notify interested parties of the identity of any agent for service of process under RCW 11.36.010(6); (b) disclose a valid address of any agent for service of process under RCW 11.36.010(6) to the Court or to interested parties; or (c) provide notice of the resignation or discharge of such agent or a change of address of such agent. Indeed, once the Court

¹⁰ RCW 11.24.010.

¹¹ RCW 11.24.010.

¹² RCW 11.24.010.

¹³ RCW 11.24.010.

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