FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/12/2019 10:37 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97433-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In Re the Estate of:

SASSAN SANAI, MD,

Deceased.

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT ASTRID SANAI TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondent Astrid Sanai, Personal Representative of the Estate of Sassan Sanai, M.D.

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

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

(1) The Plain Language of RCW 11.24.010 Mandates Personal
Service of a Will Contest Petition on an Estate's Personal
Representative

RCW 11.24.010 is *unambiguous*. See Appendix. The statute imposes an express legislative mandate that the petitioner "shall personally serve the personal representative within ninety days." (emphasis added). The statute mandates dismissal as the consequence for lack of personal service: "If service is not so made, the action is deemed not to have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations." It is undisputed that Cyrus did not personally serve Astrid after he filed the petition. Thus, Cyrus's will contest was not timely commenced and the trial court correctly dismissed it, as Division I determined. Op. at 8.

Generally, because a will contest is a special statutory proceeding defined by RCW 11.24.010, the statutory requirements pertinent to such a proceeding must be *strictly* met. *In re Estate of Toth*, 138 Wn.2d 650, 653, 981 P.2d 439 (1999) (rejecting application of civil rule to extend statutory 4 month period to timely file will contest petition); *State ex rel. Wood v. Superior Ct. for Chelan Cty.*, 76 Wash. 27, 135 Pac. 494 (1913) (statutory periods for will contests strictly enforced). Moreover, specifically in the case of service under RCW 11.24.010, its provisions,

too, are *strictly construed*. *In re Estate of Jepsen*, 184 Wn.2d 376, 379-81, 358 P.3d 403 (2015). Noting the rule that the requirements for commencing will contests are always strictly enforced in Washington, *id*. at 381, this Court in *Jepsen* held that e-mailing the petition to the personal representative's attorney was not *personal* service and rejected a dissent's arguments for a waiver of such a strict rule. In fact, the *Jepsen* court applied the amended version of RCW 11.24.010 in which the Legislature codified this Court's earlier decision in *In re Estate of Kordon*, 157 Wn.2d 206, 137 P.3d 16 (2006) where the Court had held that personal service on the personal representative "is essential to invoke personal jurisdiction over" that person. *Id*. at 210. Division I appropriately applied this Court's decision in *Jepsen*. Op. at 4.³

Hoping to evade the unambiguous language of RCW 11.24.010 and this Court's clear decision in *Jepsen*, Cyrus throws up a series of excuses for his failure to strictly comply with the personal service directive in the statute.

³ Recent unpublished Court of Appeals opinions, citing *Jepsen*, also hold that mailed notice of a will contest petition does not satisfy the requirement for personal service under RCW 11.24.010. *See*, e.g., *In re Estate of Booheister*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1063, 2018 WL 2356645 (2018); *In re Estate of Primiani*, 198 Wn. App. 1067, 2017 WL 1655759 (2017); *In re Estate of Coaker*, 197 Wn. App. 1014, 2016 WL 7470071 (2016). These decisions document that this Court's interpretation of RCW 11.24.010 is clear and

unambiguous.

For example, he asserts that RCW 11.36.010(6)⁴ relating to the appointment of a registered agent trumps RCW 11.24.010's specific direction. Pet. at 10-12. Division I correctly reasoned that such an argument is wrong, given the specific basis in RCW 11.24.010 for *commencing* a will contest. Op. at 5.

Alternatively, he contends that the mere delivery of the will contest documents to McCarthy's office constituted "personal" service because "hand-to-hand" service was unnecessary. Pet. at 5. But mere delivery to an office does not accomplish personal service. RCW 4.28.080; French v. Gabriel, 57 Wn. App. 217, 225, 788 P.2d 569 (1990), aff'd, 116 Wn.2d 584, 806 P.2d 1234 (1991); Dolby v. Worthy, 141 Wn. App. 813, 817, 173 P.3d 946 (2007), review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1004 (2008). See also, Weiss v. Glemp, 127 Wn.2d 726, 903 P.2d 455 (1995) (leaving process on window sill did not constitute personal service).

A personal representative's appointment of her lawyer as a resident agent per RCW 11.36.010(6) does not eliminate the requirement of personal service under RCW 11.24.010. Op. at 6. Cyrus cites no legal authority for the notion that appointment of a resident agent eliminates the need for personal service of the will contest petition. Indeed, his argument makes no sense; the mandate of RCW 11.24.010 for *personal service* of

⁴ That statute is set forth in the Appendix.

the petition applies to all will contests regardless of whether the personal representative resides in Washington or has appointed a resident agent for service. Both statutes are unambiguous and there is no conflict between the explicit provisions of RCW 11.24.010 and RCW 11.36.010(6).

Cyrus also contends that *Scanlan v. Townsend*, 181 Wn.2d 838, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014) supports his theory that delivery of the documents to McCarthy's office was sufficient because she eventually "physically received" the documents. Pet. at 3-4. Cyrus is wrong, as Division I ruled. Op. at 8.

Scanlan is not a will contest case. The Court there held that actual personal service – not substitute service – could be accomplished by "any person" in the defendant's abode and proven by affidavit under RCW 4.28.080 and CR 4(c). The defendant in Scanlan did not dispute that personal service had been accomplished, and this Court approved "second hand" service on the defendant by her father. Scanlan is inapplicable because Cyrus concedes personal service on Astrid or McCarthy was never timely accomplished; and RCW 11.24.010 is strictly construed to require personal service.

Finally, Cyrus contends throughout his petition that principles of substantial compliance bound the trial court to accept service of notice on the receptionist for McCarthy's law firm, without personal service on Astrid or McCarthy. For that proposition he cites various cases like *Thayer v. City of Edmonds*, 8 Wn. App. 36, 503 P.2d 1110 (1972), *review denied*, 82 Wn.2d 1001 (1973), and *Martin v. Triol*, 121 Wn.2d 135, 847 P.2d 471 (1993) that in some instances recognize that substantial compliance with service requirements will suffice. Pet. at 5, 8, 12. *Thayer* involved an alternate service agreement, for example. But the flaw in Cyrus's argument is just what Division I stated – will contests are different. Service in such a setting must be *strictly* accomplished. "The doctrine of substantial compliance is fundamentally inconsistent with this strict enforcement and cannot apply." Op. at 7.

This concept of strict compliance with statutes requiring a specific type of service has long been common in Washington law. For example, in *Union Bay Preservation Coalition v. Cosmos Development & Admin. Corp.*, 127 Wn.2d 614, 902 P.2d 1247 (1995), this Court addressed the Administrative Procedure Act's requirement of service on "parties of record" to initiate judicial review of an administrative agency's final decision. This Court held that service on those parties' attorneys, rather than the parties themselves, failed to comply with the statute. *Id.* at 619-20. The Court also rejected a substantial compliance argument in the face of unambiguous statutory language to the contrary. *Id.* at 620. *See also*, *Stewart v. Dep't of Emp't Security*, 191 Wn.2d 42, 419 P.3d 838 (2018)

(failure to timely serve agency mandated dismissal of APA judicial review petition; Court rejects waiver argument); Clark Cty. v. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., __P.3d __, 2019 WL 3927449 (2019) (same).

In sum, Division I's opinion as to the application of RCW 11.24.010 is correct and fully supported by this Court's precedents. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(2) This Court Should Not Even Consider Cyrus's Belated Constitutional Argument

Again hoping to justify his failure to comply with RCW 11.24.010, Cyrus attempts to divert the Court's attention from his failed service by arguing that he did not receive specific notice of certain information regarding McCarthy's appointment and the Estate was therefore estopped to claim it was not properly served. Pet. at 6. But the appointment of resident agent identified McCarthy by name and gave clear-cut contact data. CP 123.

Division I correctly observed that the Estate complied with its statutory duties concerning the filing of the notice of McCarthy's appointment. Op. at 7. In any event, an estoppel argument does not help Cyrus here.

Cyrus cites Hesthagen v. Harby, 78 Wn.2d 934, 941, 481 P.2d 438

⁵ Cyrus claimed below that the notice only identified McCarthy's law firm. CP 31. That was untrue. CP 123.

(1971) for his estoppel argument, but *Hesthagen* was not a will contest, and the issue there was whether the personal representative's failure to give some heirs *any* notice of the probate proceedings rendered a final decree of probate distribution a denial of due process. Here, Cyrus was well aware of his father's probate proceedings. CP 84, 87, 126. *Hesthagen* does not support the application of estoppel as an exception to the requirement for personal service under RCW 11.24.010 to commence a will contest, as Cyrus contends.

Finally, it is noteworthy that *all* of the arguments Cyrus raises on estoppel are *unnecessary* had he merely complied with RCW 11.24.010 and served Astrid personally. Leaving a document on a receptionist's desk hardly constituted *personal* service on the Estate's registered agent, McCarthy, let alone personal service on Astrid as the personal representative.

Doubling down on his baseless estoppel argument, Cyrus apparently contends that he was deprived of due process because he did not receive specific notice of certain information about McCarthy. Pet. at 11-12.6

As this Court is fully aware, the normal rule is that our appellate

⁶ Again, this argument is belied by the fact that Cyrus received notice of McCarthy's appointment. CP 84, 87, 126.

courts will not review an issue raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). Here, recognizing that Division I's interpretation of RCW 11.24.010 is correct, Cyrus turns to a constitutional issue for the first time in this case in his petition for review to this Court. Pet. at 2, 17-20. He never raised the issue, nor developed a record on it, either in the trial court or Division I.

While there is an exception to the policy of RAP 2.5(a) for "manifest errors affecting a constitutional right," that exception is *narrowly* applied. *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 602, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999). It is incumbent upon the party seeking to raise the issue to document that the issue is "manifest," and that it is truly of a constitutional dimension. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Cyrus did neither.

First, if the record of an issue is insufficient to determine the merits of the issue, any error is not "manifest" and review need not occur. *WWJ*, 138 Wn.2d at 602. Here, Cyrus made *no record* below on his belated constitutional claim.

Further, an issue must truly be of a constitutional dimension, that is, it must have a clear constitutional basis. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Cyrus fails to establish that constitutional basis here. Cyrus knew of the commencement of the probate proceedings as to

his father's Estate, Astrid's appointment as the Estate's personal representative, and McCarthy's appointment. If he wanted to commence a will contest, he had to serve Astrid personally. He did not do that. The data he seems to want as to McCarthy was available to him, but he did not timely serve her personally either, assuming that she could be served personally in lieu of personal service on Astrid under RCW 11.24.010, as noted *supra*.

Ultimately, the key question is whether the Estate is properly served in a will contest, as the party that must defend the will. He fails to offer any authority indicating that *his* right to due process is somehow impaired by a statutory requirement that the Estate be given necessary notice of his intention to challenge the will by requiring him to personally serve its personal representative to commence the action.

This Court should deny review of Cyrus's belated, baseless, constitutional claim. RAP 13.4(b).

(3) The Estate Is Entitled to Fees under TEDRA

The Estate requests that the Court award the Estate its reasonable attorney fees in connection with Cyrus's petition. RAP 18.1; RCW 11.96A.150. *See* Appendix. The Estate recognizes that Division I exercised its discretion and declined to award fees in connection with its review, but that does not foreclose this Court from awarding TEDRA fees.

RCW 11.96A.150 authorizes a court in its discretion to award reasonable attorney fees for "any and all factors that it deems to be relevant and appropriate ..." and "in such amount and in such manner as the court deems to be equitable." Fees may be awarded on appeal in will contest proceedings. *In re Estate of Muller*, 197 Wn. App. 477, 490, 389 P.3d 604 (2016). Cyrus's present petition, including its newfound constitutional argument, is meritless.

As former Chief Justice Gerry Alexander observed in *Watson v. Maier*, 64 Wn. App. 889, 891, 827 P.2d 311, *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1015 (1992), while serving on the Division II bench:

A famous lawyer once said: "About half of the practice of a decent lawyer is telling would be clients that they are damned fools and should stop." Consistent with this admonition, CR 11 allows courts to sanction lawyers who do not know when to stop.

It is no different here. Cyrus recognizes no boundaries to incessant litigation in this interfamilial dispute. Enough is enough. This Court should not tolerate Cyrus's further delays calculated to prevent the processing and winding up of the Estate's affairs. TEDRA allows this Court to impose fees against Cyrus in favor of the Estate, and the Court should do so here in connection with this baseless petition for review.

D. CONCLUSION

Cyrus has failed to analyze the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). Division I

correctly determined in its unpublished opinion that RCW 11.24.010 mandates dismissal of Cyrus's will contest where he failed to undertake personal service on Astrid, as the Estate's personal representative, within ninety days after filing the petition. The statute and controlling case authorities mandate *strict compliance* with the requirement of personal service on an estate's personal representative in a will contest and do not allow any of Cyrus's other excuses for departing from the statutory requirement of personal service. The trial court properly dismissed the will contest petition, as Division I ruled. This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b). Reasonable attorney fees should be awarded to the Estate.